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The letter requesting Harrison to design King's Chapel contained the following 
instruction, as quoted by Bridenbargh f s Peter Harrison, First American Architect: 
"The Length of the Church from West to East, including the Steeple, is to be 
120 feet, besides which there will be 10 feet allowed for a Chancel. The 
breadth is to be 65 feet 8 inches. The Ground has a Declivity of about 5 feet 
from West to East....The Building is to be of rough Stone."

Bearing in mind the committee's injunction that symmetry and proportion rather 
than expensive ornament ought to govern his work, he provided an exceedingly 
plain exterior for the body of the church, using rough local rather than finished 
Portland stone. To insure proper lighting for the galleries he gave the north 
south flanks of the church two tiers of windows, suggested no doubt by Plate 24 
in Gibb's A Book of Architecture, while on the east end he used a Palladian 
window. Harrison planned a front porch of stone Ionic columns, 25 feet in 
height, to be crowned by an elaborate balustrade. These details were not 
added until 1785-87 and were done in wood rather than stone by Thomas Clement, 
who followed Harrison f s design except for the balustrade. The balustrade, 
four feet two inches, was needed by Harrison to create the impression of a very 
elaborate building to support the large steeple originally planned for the 
building. The projecting stone tower of King's Chapel, 26 feet square and with 
walls four feet thick, was intended to carry the lofty stone spire, more 
elaborate than any in London, but this spire was never built. The plans for 
the spire were particularly ambitious. Since the tower was to be twenty-six 
feet square "from out to out," and its walls four feet thick at the base, it 
is evident that a masonry spire of considerable height and weight was contemplated, 
A contemporary observer wrote that "according to the original design of the 
architect," which was in existence as late as 1784, he intended to erect upon 
the block type cornice which crowned the tower "an elegant and lofty steeple of 
two square stories and an octagonal spire. The first story is to be of the 
Ionic order, with 16 fluted coupled columns and pilasters, 19 inches in 
diameter. The second story, of the Corinthian order, formed of 8 fluted single 
columns, 14 inches in diameter. The spire rising above, to be finished in the 
richest manner. The columns with their entablature, which projects from the 
body of the steeple, to support highly finished and ornamental urns."

Four windows with carved stone frames were planned for the steeple, as well as 
thirty-two stone urns or vases to go on the balustrade.

Most of the details of the interior orders come from the Rules for Drawing by 
James Gibbs. On one plan can be found models for the Ionic and Corinthian 
colonnades, while the balustrade for the altar-rail appears in the upper right- 
hand corner of another. From two plates in Batty Langley's Treasury of Designs 
Harrison apparently drew his inspiration for the altar-piece, but the solution 
was that of the designer, not the copyist. The successful combining of all
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BUILDER/ARCHITECT Peter Harrison

Designed by perhaps the greatest American architect of the Colonial period, Peter 
Harrison, and erected in 1749-54, King's Chapel is one of the finest examples 
of his skill and sophistication as a designer in Palladian forms. The existing 
chapel was the first important building in British America to be constructed of 
cut stone and is also the first recorded use of Quincy granite. The interior, 
with large Corinthian columns» is without question one of the most elegantly 
refined examples of Georgian Palladian design and one of Harrison's masterpieces.

HISTORY

King's Chapel was the first important Anglican congregation in New England. When 
first founded in 1686, services were held, by order of Governor Andros in the Old 
South Meeting House, the foundation for the first chapel was laid in 1688. In 
1710 this was enlarged to twice its former size to take care of the growing congre­ 
gation which represented a large part of the wealth of Boston.

By 1741 the enlarged chapel was again too small and a committee, with Peter 
Faneuil as Treasurer, was appointed to raise the necessary funds for a new 
church. On April 5, 1749, Peter Harrison received a letter from Reverend Henry 
Caner of King's Chapel advising him that the committee for building a new church 
had asked him "To acquaint you that they would esteem it a Favor if you would 
oblige them with a Draught of a handsome Church agreeable to the Limitts 
herinafter assigned." (Bridenbaugh, page 54)

Peter Harrison was no stranger among Boston Anglicans. He was acquainted with at 
least two of the committee, Charles Apthorp and Dr. Silvester Gardiner, while its 
clerk, Barlow Trecothick, was a personal friend and business connection. Trecothick's 
London partner, John thomlinson, who had contributed heavily to the undertaking, 
was managing the drive for funds in England. It is more than likely these two 
gentlemen recommended Harrison to the building committee.

Harrison worked on the plans throughout the spring and summer and work on the church 
began early in 1750. The expense of erecting the building exceeded the committee's 
expectations, so the fine steeple designed by Harrison was never undertaken.
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these elements and the strict attention paid to the measurements and proportions 
of the orders produced one of the most elegantly-designed church interiors in 
colonial America.

In the interior Harrison demonstrates an easy mastery of space composition, 
a sophisticated handling of fine carved details of the Georgian vocabulary, 
and, particularly, a sure sense of true grandeur of scale.

A great unity of effect is achieved on the interior by the use of giant Corinthian 
columns, projecting in front of the gallery fronts. Their arrangement in 
pairs gives a more varied and powerful rhythm than the uniform spacing of single 
columns used in every other major Georgian church in the colonies. The order 
is fully displayed: molded bases, fluted shafts, opulent capitals, and fully 
membered blocks of entablature over each pair of columns forms a complete and 
logical structural statement, brought up into full view by the square pedestals 
below pew level. Gallery fronts are beautifully paneled, and a fine Palladian 
window floods the sanctuary with light. The raised pulpit, saved from the 
earlier wooden church, dates from 1717. Around 1930 the governor's pew was 
reinstalled in the side aisle, after existing precise drawings of the original.

King's Chapel has undergone little modification or alteration. The present 
stone floor was laid over the original wooden one in the present century, and 
a sprinkler system has been installed in the attic and basement. An iron 
catwalk provides access to the copper roof at the eaves to facilitate removal of 
ice.

During 1972-73 the building was cleaned and the north wall was carefully pointed. 
The niches flanking the portico tower were relined with terracotta and blue 
stone bases were installed. Concrete bases were installed for the wooden 
columns of the porch and the woodwork was repainted to blend with the newly 
cleaned surface.
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The portico and balustrade were finally executed according to his plans in 1787 
but entirely of wood instead of stone.

Almost five years passed until the building was sufficiently near completion 
to be opened for services on August 21, 1754. Although over 7405 pounds 
sterling had been expended by 1758, King's Chapel was far from completed and 
in fact never was.

King's Chapel remained loyal during the Revolution and suffered no damage 
during the British occupancy of Boston. When the British left, the rector, 
Dr. Caner, fled with them, taking records, vestments, and silver; the latter 
a gift of three sovereigns has never been recovered.

When the Continental troops occupied the town, the church was closed. In 1777, 
an invitation was extended to the congregaton of Old South Church, whose 
building was used as a stable by troops, to worship in the chapel. After 
the war an attempt was made to return to the Anglican faith but there were 
few to fill the church. James Freeman, a lay reader of the church began to 
build a following. He was interested in proposed reforms of the Church in 
England which involved the examination of the Trinity of the Godhead. Freeman 
proposed that King's Chapel alter the liturgy to conform with these views 
and when the Episcopal Council in America refused, King's Chapel seceeded 
from the Episcopal Church and James Freeman was ordained as the first 
Unitarian minister of the first Unitarian congregation.

This change of faith was accomplished in a unique manner. The congregation and 
clergyman did not by any means renounce the Prayer Book, and the old form of 
worship, they simply decided to omit all those portions which did not accord with 
the doctrine they had agreed to adopt. Thus the old Prayer Books given the 
church were kept and used for many years, but references to the Trinity, the 
Holy Ghost, and such prayers or portions of prayers as they chose henceforth to 
omit, were carefully crossed out in red ink. This slightly changed ritual of 
the Episcopal Church--amended once more in later years—is still used by King's 
Chapel congregation.

The pulpit in King's Chapel dates from 1717. It stood then against the north 
wall, with the Governor's pew opposite as it now stands, beautifully restored, 
in its original location.


